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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

1. Whether claims challenging certain statements describing a company’s 
environmental commitments, practices, and risks are insufficient under 
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) as a matter of law, and whether those claims 
adequately plead scienter. 

 
2. Whether a claim for control person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) 

requires an allegation that the control person was a culpable participant 
in the primary violation. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 
 

This case presents a question of the interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, and 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  The relevant text is reproduced 

in the appendix.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

James Wilson (“Wilson”) founded the Red River Exploration Company 

(“Red River” or the “Company”) in 1962.  (R. at 1).  By 1985, Wilson took Red 

River public to increase capital for his Company’s operations.  (R. at 1).  Red 

River, registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange 

Act”), is a publicly traded company listed appropriately on the New York Stock 

Exchange.  (R. at 3).  When taking the Company public, Red River named 

Pamela Thompson (“Thompson”) as Chief Operating and Environmental Officer 

in addition to naming Sandra Grimes (“Grimes”) as Senior Vice President and 

General Counsel.  (R. at 3).  Both Thompson and Grimes had prior experience 

working in the oil industry in their respective roles.  (R. at 3). 

During the 1990s, Red River and Wilson began to investigate new 

methods of expanding their drilling, but found limited options.  (R. at 4).  

Nevertheless, Wilson attended a conference where the practice of “fracking” was 

discussed in detail, and subsequently brought the novel idea to his 

environmental team.  (R. at 4).  Fracking is a drilling technique that expels 

water into the shale rock layer, fragments the rock, and releases the oil trapped 

inside.  (R. at 3-4).  Although this drilling technique raised some level of 

concern, Wilson wanted to make West Texas’s oil industry successful again and 
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was optimistic about the future.  (R. at 3-4).  Red River initiated its transition 

to the fracking technique in 2000, and by 2018, the United States regained its 

title as world’s largest oil producer, and Red River’s success was palpable, 

drawing in “a market capitalization of over one hundred and ten billion 

dollars.”  (R. at 4). 

       In late 2017, Red River received a few phone calls from local geologists 

reporting, “low-level seismic activity,” spanning a period of two months.  (R. at 

5).  After discussing the reports with both Red River’s environmental team as 

well as Thompson and Grimes, the team (including Wilson) determined this 

information did not rise to a level of requiring disclosure.  (R. at 5).  At around 

the same time, Red River’s environmental team expressed a relatively low level 

of concern about the capacity of Red River’s water storage facility.  (R. at 5).  

Wilson and Red River determined that the levels were sufficient for the present 

time, and that the facility could be expanded if the operation itself were to 

expand.  (R. at 5). 

       On March 1, 2018, Red River published its Annual Report and Form 10-

K that contained certain disclosures relative to Red River’s environmental 

policies.  (R. at 6).  The statements released in the Form 10-K stated with no 

particularity the Company’s commitment to safety and environmental 

regulations.  (R. at 6).  For instance, “[t]here is no higher priority than ensuring 

that our drilling activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with 

protecting the environment and preventing or remediating any damage 

resulting from an environmental occurrence.”  (R. at 6).  Additionally, there 
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were other assertions stating the similarity between the risks inherent in 

traditional drilling techniques and the more novel fracking procedures.  (R. at 

6). 

       In early May of 2018, Red River received a few more phone calls reporting 

low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale area.  (R. at 7).  Again, the 

team, comprised of Wilson, Thompson, and Grimes, decided the reports still 

did not rise to a level warranting reporting.  (R. at 7).  Instead of publishing a 

potentially “market roiling” report, the team decided to initiate an investigation 

into the reports headed by a prominent university geologist.  (R. at 7).  Later in 

May of 2018, Wilson engaged in some incidental disclosures at conferences 

with industry securities analysts boasting of Red River’s “tightest” 

environmental procedures.  (R. at 7).  On May 28, 2018, Red River received a 

few more calls relative to some more low-level seismic activity in the area.  (R. 

at 7). 

       On June 1, 2018, Red River published its quarterly form 10-Q for the 

primary purpose of updating their financials.  (R. at 7).  Included in this report, 

was a disclosure stating in relevant part, “‘operations could be subject to 

disruption by natural disasters beyond our control,’ including ‘severe storms, 

fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.’”  (R. at 7-8).  A few days 

later, both the Teacher Retirement System of Fordham (“TRSF”) and Fordham 

Municipal Retirement Fund (“FMRF”) purchased $27 million and $31 million 

worth of Red River shares respectively.  (R. at 8).  On June 10, 2018 (the “June 

10th Environmental Event”), a total of three days following FMRF’s purchase, 
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several mid-level seismic shocks triggered a series of events culminating in the 

destruction of Red River’s wastewater storage site.  (R. at 8). 

On August 10, 2018, TRSF and FMRF (collectively, the “Respondents”), 

filed a class action suit against Red River and Wilson (collectively, the 

“Petitioners”) on behalf of all purchasers of the common stock of Red River 

between March 2, 2018 and August 2, 2018 (the “Class Period”) in the District 

of Fordham.  (R. at 8).  Respondents’ complaint alleged that Petitioners’ 

statements (the “Statements”) throughout the Class Period amounted to 

securities fraud under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  (R. 

at 9).  Additionally, Respondents asserted a control person liability claim 

against Wilson personally under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  (R. at 9).  

In October 2018, the District Court granted Petitioners’ motion to dismiss for 

failure to state a claim for which relief can be granted.  (R. at 10).  The District 

Court rested its opinion on the basis that Respondents failed to meet the 

pleading requirements set forth in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 

(“PSLRA”), failing to properly identify facts alleging scienter, and thus rendering 

the Section 20(a) claim moot.  (R. at 10).  Further, the District Court found, 

even despite the failure to plead a Section 10(b) violation, Respondents did not 

plead culpable participation with particularity as to control person liability.  (R. 

at 10).   Respondents filed a timely appeal with the Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit.  (R. at. 10-11).  The Fourteenth Circuit reversed the lower 

court’s opinion, holding that sufficient facts were alleged for all claims 

asserted.  (R. at 26). 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 
 Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim for relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 

678 (2009).  A district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim is reviewed 

de novo.  Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision below applied a view of the materiality 

requirement of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 which vastly expands the 

application of Rule 10b-5 and which, this Court and others have acknowledged 

may do more harm than good for investors designed to benefit from the Rule.  

First, Petitioners’ Statements are mere puffery, which is not actionable because 

no reasonable investor could find them important to the “total mix” of 

information available.  Additionally, some of the alleged Statements at most 

amount to mere corporate mismanagement, which this Court held in Santa Fe 

to be insufficient to state a claim for securities fraud under Rule 10b-5.  

Respondents’ claims are built upon the fallacy of fraud by hindsight, which 

Judge Friendly described as, a “greater clairvoyance” that is not available to 

alleged perpetrators of fraud.  Finally, Respondents fail to sufficiently allege 

facts giving rise to a strong inference that Red River or Wilson acted with 

scienter, because they lacked an intent to deceive and lacked reckless intent.  

Even if Respondents sufficiently pled a Rule 10b-5 primary violation, 

their claim for control person liability under Section 20(a) requires a culpable 
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participant element.  The legislative history surrounding the provision confirms 

that Congress wanted to narrow the control person’s liability to create a cause 

of action only where control persons are in some meaningful sense culpable 

participants, not blanket insurers against fraud.  Additionally, in Ernst & Ernst, 

this Court suggested that Section 20(a) requires more than a negligence 

standard to establish liability.  This places a prima facie burden on plaintiffs to 

allege culpable participation, a state of mind provision requiring a strong-

inference under the PSLRA.  For these independently sufficient reasons, 

Respondents failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  We 

respectfully ask this Court to reverse the decision of the Fourteenth Circuit. 

ARGUMENT 
 
I. RED RIVER’S INVESTMENT STATEMENTS ARE NOT ACTIONABLE 

UNDER SECTION 10(B). 
 

Respondents failed to establish an actionable Section 10(b) claim 

because even when accepting all factual allegations as true, Respondents failed 

to establish that Red River made material misrepresentations or omissions, or 

possessed an intent to deceive. 

A. Red River’s Statements were not materially misleading. 

In order to satisfy a claim under Rule 10b-5, Respondents had to prove 

that Red River made a statement that was misleading as to a material fact.  

Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 238 (1988).  When alleging misrepresentation, 

a plaintiff must “specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, [and] 

the reason or reasons why the statement is misleading.”  Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. 

v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 n.4 (2011) (citing 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1)).  To 
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prove that a statement is materially misleading, “there must be a substantial 

likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the 

reasonable investor as having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of information 

made available.”  Basic, 485 U.S. at 231-32 (quoting TSC Indus., Inc. v. 

Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)).  Assessing the materiality of adverse 

event reports is a “fact-specific” inquiry.  Id.  Courts have been reluctant to set 

the standard of materiality too low out of fear that management would deceive 

shareholders by burying information under an avalanche of trivial information.  

Id. at 231. 

Red River and Wilson’s Statements were not materially misleading 

because all of the Statements are mere puffery, several of the Statements are 

mere corporate mismanagement at worst, the material that Respondents 

wanted disclosed is immaterial, and because much of the Respondents’ case is 

built on the flawed legal theory of “fraud by hindsight.” 

1. All of the challenged Statements alleged by Respondents 
are mere puffery, which is insufficient to prove a Section 
10(b) claim. 

 
Mere puffery is defined as “a certain kind of rosy affirmation commonly 

heard from corporate managers . . . loosely optimistic statements that are so 

vague, so lacking in specificity, or so clearly constituting the opinions of the 

speaker, that no reasonable investor could find them important to the total mix 

of information available.”1  See In re Ford Motor Co. Sec. Litig., Class Action, 381 

                                       
1 This Court has not formally held that puffery is immaterial under Section 10(b).  However, 
legal scholars agree that puffery is immaterial because the concept of corporate puffery existed 
at common law as a defense to fraud claims.  See R. Gregory Roussel, Securities Fraud or Mere 



P11 
 

 
 
8 
 

F.3d 563, 570-71 (6th Cir. 2004) (quoting Shaw v. Dig. Equip. Corp., 82 F.3d 

1194, 1217 (1st Cir. 1996)).  “Vague statements of optimism like ‘good,’ ‘well-

regarded,’ or other feel good monikers, are not actionable because professional 

investors, and most amateur investors as well, know how to devalue the 

optimism of corporate executives.”  Police Ret. Sys. v. Intuitive Surgical, Inc., 

759 F.3d 1051, 1060 (9th Cir. 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).  All of 

the challenged Statements are mere puffery that courts view as immaterial as a 

matter of law. 

First, the “commitment” Statements—Statement 1 (“Our commitment to 

the environment is unwavering and constant”) and Statement 2 (“There is no 

higher priority than ensuring that our drilling activity continues to be 

conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the environment and 

preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an environmental 

occurrence”)—are clearly puffery.  A company’s commitment to norms is one of 

the “quintessential examples” of statements found to be immaterial puffery as a 

matter of law.  In re Banco Bradesco S.A. Sec. Litig., 277 F. Supp. 3d 600, 647 

(S.D.N.Y. 2017).  Both the majority and dissenting opinions agreed that 

Statement 1 was immaterial puffery because the statement was not materially 

misleading and too general for a reasonable investor to rely on.  (R. at 16, 29-

                                       
Puffery: Refinement of the Corporate Puffery Defense, 51 VAND. L. REV. 1049, 1092 (1998) 
(concluding “[c]ourts should dismiss securities fraud claims based on such contextually 
immaterial puffing statements to save all parties from enduring the lengthy and expensive 
litigation process”); see also David A. Hoffman, The Best Puffery Article Ever, 91 IOWA L. REV. 
1395, 1447 (2006) (noting “scholarly discussion of puffery to date has treated it as a byproduct 
of the law of fraud or a holdover from previous caveat emptor traditions”); Wendy Gerwick 
Couture, Opinions Actionable as Securities Fraud, 73 LA. L. REV. 381, 444 (2003) (applying 
Second Restatement of Torts to issue of puffery in securities fraud). 
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30).  Statement 2 is puffery because its commitment to preventing or 

addressing future environmental disasters is merely a general commitment to 

following norms of the fracking industry, such as “best practices.”  ECA, Local 

134 IBEW Joint Pension Tr. of Chi. v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d 187, 206 

(2d Cir. 2009) (holding statements are immaterial as a matter of law when they 

are “too general to cause a reasonable investor to rely upon them”). 

Additionally, the two “practices” Statements from the March 1, 2018 

Annual Report and Form 10-K—Statement 3 (“We continue to conduct frequent 

environmental practices reviews to assure our commitment to environmental 

best practices and devote our most talented personnel and a substantial 

budget to ensure protection of the environment”) and Statement 4 (“Our 

commitment to the environment is demonstrated through our investment in 

and adoption of the latest technology in order to minimize water or soil 

contamination.  This commitment differentiates us from our competitors”)—are 

simply too vague to provoke shareholder reliance.  Both of these statements are 

also immaterial expressions of optimism in Red River’s quality control 

standards.  City of Roseville Emps.’ Ret. Sys. v. Sterling Fin. Corp., 47 F. Supp. 

3d 1205, 1120 (E.D. Wash. 2014), aff’d, 691 F. App’x 393 (9th Cir. 2017) 

(finding statement that the company was operating in a “safe and sound” 

manner and that the company “implemented stringent measures” to be 

immaterial puffery); Steinberg v. Ericsson LM Tel. Co., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

99727, at *26-27 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (holding statement that a company is 

outperforming the competition to be puffery). 
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Wilson’s statements at the May 15, 2018 Investor Conference—

Statement 6 (“I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the West 

Texas oil patch”) and Statement 7 (“Candidly, I honestly believe a major 

environmental event has about a zero percent chance of occurring on our 

property.  We just pay too much attention for that to happen”)—are also 

immaterial puffery.  The majority opinion clearly stated Statement 6 was 

immaterial puffery because it is “prototypical of the general corporate optimism 

that shareholders expect from a CEO, whose job entails public promotion of the 

company,” and the dissent agreed.  (R. at 16, 29-30).  However, the majority 

erred when they concluded Statement 7 was not puffery because the “zero 

percent chance” phrase is clearly hyperbole, which no reasonable investor 

would rely on.  See Parnes v. Gateway 2000, Inc., 122 F.3d 539, 547 (8th Cir. 

1997) (noting that “some statements are so vague and such obvious hyperbole 

that no reasonable investor would rely upon them”); see also In re Ford Motor 

Co., 381 F.3d at 570 (holding Ford’s statement that “Ford has its best quality 

ever” to be clear immaterial hyperbole no reasonable investor would rely upon, 

even if it were misleading).  Additionally, Statement 7 is puffery because it is an 

opinion that no reasonable investor would objectively view as important.  City 

of Brockton Ret. Sys. v. Avon Prods., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 137387, at *39-40, 

*45 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (holding the company statement that it has a “strong belief 

in the importance of corporate responsibility” is immaterial puffery). 

Finally, the “risk” Statements—Statement 5 (“Fracking involves no 

serious environmental issues not associated with conventional drilling”) and 
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Statement 8 (“Our operations could be subject to disruption by natural 

disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe storms, fires, earthquakes, 

civil unrest, and terrorist attacks”)—are puffery because they are too vague for 

a reasonable investor to rely on for investment decisions.  ECA, Local 134 IBEW 

Joint Pension Tr. of Chi., 553 F.3d at 206 (statement about company’s “sound 

risk management” was mere puffery). 

Puffery is protected from legal action because reasonable investors are 

able to discern material statements from feel-good, optimistic salesmanship 

that CEOs frequently engage in to promote their companies.  Because all of the 

Statements fit the definition of mere puffery, Respondents have failed to prove 

a Section 10(b) claim of material misrepresentation as a matter of law even 

when accepting all of Respondents’ factual allegations as true. 

2. Statements 2-4 constitute mere “corporate 
mismanagement” at most, which is insufficient under 
Section 10(b). 

 
 Courts have refused to allow Section 10(b) challenges to corporate 

conduct that lack the elements of misconduct or deception required under 

Section 10(b).  Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 

N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 173 (1994).  Specifically, this Court held in Santa Fe 

Indus., Inc. v. Green that Congress did not intend Section 10(b) to cover mere 

“internal corporate mismanagement.”  430 U.S. 462, 479 (1977).  Additionally, 

“[s]ome information is of such dubious significance that insistence on its 

disclosure may accomplish more harm than good.”  TSC Indus., 426 U.S. at 

448.  This Court was careful not to set the standard for materiality too low 
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because it might lead corporations and their management to bury shareholders 

“in an avalanche of trivial information—a result that is hardly conducive to 

informed decisionmaking,” to avoid liability.  Basic, 485 U.S. at 231.  Here, 

even when accepting all factual allegations as true, Respondents have only pled 

sufficient evidence that members of Red River’s management and some 

scientists in their environmental team received information that was of dubious 

significance at the time, and at most, that they mismanaged the business in a 

way Respondents did not like. 

 If the omitted fact is material only because it would “place potential 

investors on notice that management is culpable of a breach of faith or 

incompetence,” then the Santa Fe mere mismanagement holding will bar a 

plaintiff’s claim.  Craftmatic Sec. Litig. v. Kraftsow, 890 F.2d 628, 640 (3d Cir. 

1989).  Statement 2 (“There is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling 

activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 

environment and preventing or remediating any damage resulting from an 

environmental occurrence”), which Respondents claim is definitive proof of 

fraud, is evidence of corporate mismanagement at most because Red River 

relied upon the environmental team’s assurances that the reports of low-level 

seismic activity were likely not caused by fracking.  (R. at 5).  Whether Red 

River’s environmental team was mistaken in that belief is a question of the 

management of the business, not fraud actionable under the Exchange Act.  

Similarly, while Respondents claim fraud by failure to include greater storage 

in the toxic wastewater tanks, Red River’s environmental team believed that the 
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system was “structurally sound.”  (R. at 5).  The competence of management is 

a question of state law, not federal securities law. 

 Santa Fe’s holding also bars a claim where the “central thrust” of the 

claim is mere mismanagement, rather than concealment of material 

information from investors.  Panter v. Marshall Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 

(7th Cir. 1981).  Red River’s practice Statements, such as Statement 3’s 

“commitment to . . . devote our most talented personnel and a substantial 

budget to ensure protection of the environment,” and Statement 4’s 

“commitment to the environment . . . [which] differentiates [Red River] from our 

competitors” are both examples of corporate mismanagement at most because 

Red River’s environmental compliance team believed that the reports of low-

level seismic activity were unrelated to fracking.  (R. at 5).  The environmental 

compliance team may have been ultimately mistaken in this belief, but this 

mistake does not amount to misrepresentation under Section 10(b). 

 Although Red River faced certain geological and wastewater storage 

issues and may have made business decisions that Respondents did not agree 

with, this does not mean the Statements describing Red River’s environmental 

commitments and practices were materially misleading.  Congress did not 

intend for Section 10(b) to allow shareholder claims based on mere second-

guessing of management decisions to be brought in federal court.  Additionally, 

given how speculative the reports were and the lack of connection between 

fracking and the June 10th Environmental Event, the reports were of dubious 

significance at the time.  Disclosure would have done more harm than good 
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because a reasonable investor would have more questions than answers based 

on such anecdotal, preliminary reports.  For these reasons, none of the 

Statements meet the high level of reckless disregard of the truth needed to 

prove securities fraud under Section 10(b). 

3. Respondents’ securities fraud claim is based on 
insufficient “fraud by hindsight.” 

 
It is insufficient to allege fraud by hindsight.  Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues 

& Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 320 (2007); see Denny v. Barber, 576 F.2d 465, 

470 (2d Cir. 1978) (Friendly, J.).  Courts reject cases based on hindsight 

because people with knowledge of an outcome have a tendency “to exaggerate 

the event to which they believe that the outcome could have been predicted.”  

In re Citigroup Inc. S’holder Derivative Litig., 964 A.2d 106, 124 n.50 (Del. Ch. 

2009).  Indeed, it is almost impossible for courts, in hindsight, to determine 

whether the directors of a company properly evaluated risks, and thus made 

the “right” business decision.  Id. at 126 n.58 (citing Professor Bainbridge’s 

argument on hindsight bias that, “[T]here is a substantial risk that suing 

shareholders and reviewing judges will be unable to distinguish between 

competent and negligent management because bad outcomes often will be 

regarded, ex post, as having been foreseeable and, therefore, preventable ex 

ante”). 

In particular, while government agencies and Red River’s retained 

geologist determined that Red River’s fracking activities at the Eagle Ford Shale 

area was the proximate cause of the June 10th Environmental Event, and that 

the storage tanks were filled beyond recommended capacity, these investigatory 
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conclusions were not available to Red River before the June 10th 

Environmental Event.  Respondents’ reliance on these government reports as 

the basis for claiming securities fraud defies the principle that there is no 

hindsight by fraud.  By using evidence of government findings made after the 

fact, Respondents engage in the very hindsight bias that Judge Friendly 

referred to as, “greater clairvoyance” which was inaccessible to Red River before 

the June 10th Environmental Event.  Denny, 576 F.2d at 470 (finding a 

company’s “failure to make such perceptions does not constitute fraud”). 

With the benefit of hindsight and information not known to Red River at 

the time, Respondents claim that the seismic shocks and destruction of Red 

River’s toxic wastewater storage sites should have been foreseeable.  However, 

the failure to predict an environmental disaster of an enormous scale based on 

a few phone calls from geologists and a conversation with the engineering team 

at most gives rise to an inference that Red River negligently mishandled 

important information.  It simply does not establish recklessness with respect 

to misleading shareholders, let alone an intent to deceive shareholders, 

specifically because Red River engaged in the fracking technique for 

approximately seventeen years without any issues.  (R. at 4, 31).  Therefore, 

Respondents have failed to establish, even when accepting all the challenged 

Statements as true, that Red River engaged in conduct that was materially 

misleading under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. 
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B. Respondents failed to allege facts that create a strong inference of 
scienter. 

 
The PSLRA requires a plaintiff to plead with particularity, “facts giving 

rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state of 

mind.”  15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A).  This Court has defined the required state of 

mind (or “scienter”) as an “intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.”  Ernst & 

Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193-94 (1976).  Red River and Wilson lacked 

the requisite scienter because their Statements were not made with any intent 

to deceive their shareholders. 

Respondents had to represent the facts to create a cogent inference of 

scienter that is “at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could 

draw from the facts alleged.”  Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 324.  While the Statements 

and conduct of Red River and Wilson during the Class Period may lead one to 

infer a whole host of motivations, none rise to an intent to defraud.  

Respondents failed to allege facts in accordance with the pleading standard set 

forth by precedent and the PSLRA because the far more compelling inference 

for the alleged Statements is that Red River did not believe the reports rendered 

the Statements misleading, and thus, there was no severe recklessness or 

intent to deceive. 

1. Respondents failed to allege that Red River and Wilson’s 
Statements were false at the time they were made. 

 
A plaintiff alleging scienter must establish that the defendant knew or 

was aware the statements were false at the time they were made.  Lustgraaf v. 

Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 874 (8th Cir. 2010) (emphasis added); Gallagher v. 
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Abbott Labs., 269 F.3d 806, 808-09 (7th Cir. 2001) (holding there is no 

continuous duty of disclosure; only in certain circumstances is there a duty to 

correct a statement that was false at the time it was made).  Additionally, a 

plaintiff may not bring up a defendant’s statement “and then show[] in 

hindsight that the statement [was] false.”  Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d at 874.  Even 

when accepting all of the allegations in the light most favorable to 

Respondents, the allegations are insufficient to show why the Statements were 

false at the time they were made without the benefit of hindsight.  Id.  

(describing how complaint specified sufficient facts to demonstrate Behrens 

diverted investor funds for personal use).  While Red River received reports of 

low-level seismic activity before issuing many of its Statements discussing Red 

River’s environmental policies, these reports do not indicate an intent to 

defraud because the reports were merely speculative and could not predict the 

resulting enormous environmental disaster.  (R. at 5).    

 A plaintiff must plead with particularity, facts giving rise to a strong 

inference of scienter that is more than merely plausible or reasonable.  

Lormand, 565 F.3d at 252.  In Lormand, the information that was made known 

to the fraudulent party was relative to their financial statements being 

knowingly falsified to boost stock prices.  Id.  The court held the plaintiff 

adequately pled scienter.  Id.  Here, the court stated that this type of conduct 

implied a strong inference of scienter by the very nature of the conduct.  Id.  

The court reasoned that plaintiff’s allegations showed the defendants knew at 

the time they made their public statements that they were contrary and 
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severely detrimental to investors.  Id.  This is materially different from the facts 

here because Red River could not have been certain, or even almost certain 

that a disaster would occur based on the speculative information they were 

given, especially at the time they made the Statements in question.  (R. at 5-7).  

Further, Respondents may not succeed using the fact that an environmental 

event happened to make an inference that Red River or Wilson knew earlier, or 

at the time they made the Statements, that the June 10th Environmental 

Event would happen. 

2. Respondents failed to allege that Red River or Wilson 
intended to deceive or acted with a severely reckless 
mental state. 

 
It is not enough to provide the court with facts that statements or 

disclosures were false, the statements must also have been made with an 

“intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.”  Matrixx Initiatives, Inc., 563 U.S. at 

48.  This Court has not explicitly decided whether deliberate or severe 

recklessness is enough to establish a culpable state of mind under Rule 10b-5 

claims.  Id.  (“[W]e assume, without deciding, that the [deliberate recklessness] 

standard applied by the Court of Appeals is sufficient to establish scienter”). 

However, every jurisdiction that has decided the issue has concluded that 

recklessness can be sufficient to show scienter.  Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 319 n.3 

(conceding that “Circuits differ on the degree of recklessness required”).  The 

Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals defined severe recklessness in Abrams v. Baker 

Hughes Inc. as including “an extreme departure from the standard of ordinary 

care” that presents a danger of misleading shareholders “which is either known 
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to the defendant or is so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of 

it.”  292 F.3d 424, 430 (5th Cir. 2002).  Red River and Wilson lacked scienter 

because their collective Statements were not made with any intent to deceive 

their shareholders, or with a reckless disregard for the truth. 

While motive can be used as a way of establishing a strong inference of 

scienter, the motive has to be more than a mere “need to raise capital.”  Id. at 

434.  In Abrams, the company consistently represented to the SEC and the 

investing public that their internal controls were not only adequate but also 

functioning in a way that would not produce faulty financial reporting.  Id. at 

428-29.  The court held that these statements did not constitute severe 

recklessness because the company’s alleged motivation for the fraud, a desire 

to sell stock at an inflated price, does not create a strong inference of scienter.  

Id. at 434-35 (citing Melder v. Morris, 27 F.3d 1097, 1102 (5th Cir. 1994)). 

 Here,  Red River and Wilson also did not act with an intent to defraud the 

investing public, or with a reckless disregard for the truth, when they decided 

against disclosure of the preliminary reports.  See Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 

192-93 (holding absent a finding of scienter, a Rule 10b-5 private action will 

fail).  At no point in the proposed facts is there a single mention of a tangible or 

monetary motive for Red River or Wilson to decide against disclosing reports of 

possible seismic activity.  (R. at 5-7).  In fact, even if it is assumed that Wilson 

and Red River negligently disregarded such information, it was equally to their 

detriment as it was to any investor.  By deciding against disclosing the reports 

of low-level seismic activity, and continuing to display an image of business as 
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usual, Red River’s team solely engaged in practical business decisions, but did 

not artificially inflate the price of their stock in so doing.  (R. at 5-7).  Rather, 

they sought to protect the company from wreaking havoc on themselves and 

their investors, and were in the early stages of launching an investigation 

before the unforeseeable disaster struck.  (R. at 7). 

3. Respondents incorrectly focused on the facts in isolation 
without viewing the Statements holistically and within the 
entire context they were made.   

  
In order to successfully plead scienter, the facts alleged must be viewed 

in a holistic sense or within the entire context they were made.  Tellabs, 551 

U.S. at 326 (noting “the reviewing court must ask: When the allegations are 

accepted as true and taken collectively, would a reasonable person deem the 

inference of scienter at least as strong as any opposing inference?”) (emphasis 

added).  Taking all of the allegations holistically, rather than in isolation, none 

of the Statements created a strong inference of scienter.  For example, 

Statement 1 (“Our commitment to the environment is unwavering and 

constant”) and Statement 2 (“There is no higher priority than ensuring that our 

drilling activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with 

protecting the environment and preventing or remediating any damage 

resulting from an environmental occurrence”) set forth an opposing inference 

that Wilson was intending his words of confidence to be more aligned with 

corporate puffery than with an intent to defraud.  (R. at 7). 

The “strong inference” of scienter must be at least as compelling as any 

opposing inference of nonfraudulent intent.  Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 314.  In 
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Tellabs, the defendant and CEO of the company, alleged that there was no 

viable financial incentive for him to make misleading statements, and that the 

plaintiff’s failure to deal with this inference should result in a dismissal of their 

claim.  Id. at 326.  The CEO of Tellabs provided financial projections that at the 

very least were inflated, and at times entirely false.  Id. at 315.  However, this 

Court determined that even under these facts, they were insufficient to create 

an inference of scienter at least as compelling as another inference.  Id. at 328.  

Here, like in Tellabs, the facts of this case do not raise an inference as to 

financial motives.  Indeed, the facts create compelling inferences that exculpate 

Wilson and Red River, including the inference that the Statements were made 

to allow Red River more time to complete a thorough investigation into the low-

level seismic activity, the capacity of their water storage facilities, or if it was 

the right time to expand from a financial perspective.  (R. at 7-8). 

 The facts of the present case differ fundamentally from the majority of 

the existing precedent regarding Rule 10b-5 securities fraud actions brought 

under the PSLRA.  See, e.g., Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 189 (describing scheme 

to establish fake escrow accounts and convert investor money to personal use); 

Abrams, 292 F.3d at 427-28 (5th Cir. 2002) (describing misstatements to 

artificially inflate common stock prices).  Neither Wilson nor any member of 

Red River falsified financial information for any type of boost to stock prices or 

to divert investor funds for personal use.  (R. at 5-8); see Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 

324 (stating a complaint only survives when the facts sufficiently create an 

inference of scienter that is at least as compelling as any competing inference). 
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The reports of low-level seismic activity that were received came in sporadically, 

and never rose to a level suggesting clear and imminent risk of an accident.  (R. 

at 7).  Thus, the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that Respondents adequately pled 

scienter should be reversed. 

However, to the extent this Court holds that Respondents adequately 

pled a Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 primary violation, Respondents are 

additionally required to allege that the control person under a Section 20(a) 

claim was a culpable participant in the primary violation. 

II. RESPONDENTS ARE REQUIRED TO PLEAD THAT THE CONTROL 
PERSON WAS A CULPABLE PARTICIPANT IN THE PRIMARY 
VIOLATION AS AN ELEMENT OF A SECTION 20(a) CLAIM. 

 
The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that a violation of Section 20(a) 

does not require a plaintiff to plead culpable participation in order to state a 

legally sufficient claim.  Control person liability is a form of secondary liability, 

under which a plaintiff may allege that a defendant who controls another is 

liable for the primary violations of the controlled person.  See S.E.C. v. First 

Jersey Secs., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472 (2d Cir. 1996).  Section 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act provides:  

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any 
person liable under any provision of this chapter or of any 
rule or regulation thereunder shall also be liable jointly 
and severally with and to the same extent as such 
controlled person to any person to whom such controlled 
person is liable, unless the controlling person acted in good 
faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts 
constituting the violation or cause of action.   
 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  To establish control person liability, Respondents must 

prove: (1) that Wilson controlled another person or entity; (2) that Wilson 
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committed a primary violation of securities laws; and (3) that Wilson was “in 

some meaningful sense” a culpable participant in the primary violation.  

Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 890 (3d Cir. 1975).  The 

Fourteenth Circuit’s decision to reject the third prong as an element of a 

Section 20(a) claim is inconsistent with the intent of the Exchange Act and a 

control person’s liability must be predicated on their culpable participation to 

avoid providing a loophole for plaintiffs to enter through their pleadings.  This 

Court should not read Section 20(a) so broadly as to require an insurer type of 

strict liability standard for control persons. 

A. A claim for relief under Section 20(a) requires a culpable 
participation element because Section 20(a) is a state of mind 
provision under the Exchange Act. 

 
Section 20(a) was enacted to impose liability not only on the basis of 

control but also on the extent of a control person’s culpable involvement in the 

primary violation.  Id. at 884–85 (stating “it is clear that the evidence in each 

case must be examined to determine to what extent the controlling person was 

involved in the fraudulent scheme”).  Although there is a split on authority, 

multiple circuit courts of appeal recognize culpable participation as a necessary 

element for pleading Section 20(a) claims.  See, e.g., Carpenter v. Harris, Upham 

& Co., 594 F.2d 388, 394 (4th Cir. 1979) (discussing congressional intent to 

impose liability on control persons with culpable participation); Rochez Bros., 

527 F.2d at 890 (reiterating nothing else dictates any other result but including 

element of culpability); Lanza v. Drexel & Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 

1973) (“There is no evidence that Congress intended . . . anyone should be an 
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insurer against false or misleading statements”); Freeland v. Iridium World 

Communs., Ltd., 545 F. Supp. 2d 59, 82-84 (D.D.C. 2008) (stating plaintiffs 

must at least plead facts of control person’s conscious misbehavior or 

recklessness).  In Rochez Bros., the Third Circuit evaluated the legislative 

history of Section 20(a) to establish a culpable participation standard.  527 

F.2d at 884-85.  The Second Circuit has also recognized that “[t]he intent of 

Congress in adding [Section 20(a)] . . . was obviously to impose liability only on 

those directors who fall within its definition of control and who are in some 

meaningful sense culpable participants in the fraud perpetrated by controlled 

persons.”  Lanza, 479 F.2d at 1279 (emphasis added).  Here, the Fourteenth 

Circuit held that culpable participation is not required under a Section 20(a) 

claim, but failed to acknowledge Congress’s clear intent to narrow the control 

person’s liability for a primary violation to those with the requisite state of 

mind or culpable conduct. 

1. Congress did not intend to impose liability on control 
persons without allegations of culpable conduct or state 
of mind. 

 
In holding for the Respondents, the Fourteenth Circuit reduced Section 

20(a) to an insurer’s strict liability standard, which is inconsistent with the 

legislative intent of Section 20(a), and arguably, this Court’s approval of its 

intended use as a culpable participation standard.  Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 

209 n.8 (equating Section 20(a) to a “state-of-mind condition requiring 

something more than negligence”).  If culpable participation is not required, 

liability would attach solely because of a control person’s ability to control or 
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influence securities activities without regard to the control person’s actions.  

Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 884-85.  This would needlessly transform secondary 

liability into insurance liability and open the flood-gates for plaintiffs to 

frivolously tack on control person liability to securities suits. 

If Congress intended to apply this type of strict liability standard, it 

would have expressly articulated it.  The legislative history of Section 20(a), 

however, specifically rejected this “insurer’s liability” standard when creating 

control person liability.  See S. REP. NO. 73-47, at 5 (1933).  The Senate Report 

on Section 20(a) initially proposed this “insurer” type of liability standard for 

control persons to be liable regardless of fault: “If one of two presumably 

innocent persons must bear a loss, it is familiar legal principle that he should 

bear it who has the opportunity to learn the truth and has allowed untruths to 

be published and relied upon.”  Id.  The House of Representatives, however, 

declined to adopt this standard and opted for a fiduciary standard which 

“generally provides a due care defense to corporate directors, and to the rest of 

the broader class of professionals subjected to liability under that section.”  H. 

REP. NO. 73-85, at 5 (1933); see H. REP. NO. 73-152, at 27 (1933).  The House 

“fiduciary” version was adopted.  Thus, Congress clearly intended controlling 

persons to intentionally aid or participate in the controlled person’s fraudulent 

scheme and not act as an insurer against the controlled person.  Furthermore, 

as a matter of policy, requiring plaintiffs to merely allege a defendant’s control 

status, which resembles the insurance test from the Senate Report, will allow 

courts to hold a large range of control persons liable for any fault of those they 
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control regardless of their involvement in the primary violation.  See In re 

Alstom SA, 406 F. Supp. 2d 433, 490-91 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (explaining that 

without culpable participation, “Section 20(a) liability could encompass some 

participants in corporate governance, such as outside directors, who are not 

always involved in the day-to-day management of the company’s affairs . . . and 

thereby discourage their participation”).  This would unfairly shift the “dynamic 

balance between the policy of investor protection and legitimate competing 

interests of honest business” wholly toward investor protection.2 

Additionally, in dicta, this Court suggested that Section 20(a) requires 

“something more than mere negligence” to establish liability.  Ernst & Ernst, 

425 U.S. at 209 n.8.  Many lower courts used this language in their reasoning 

for applying a culpable participation element into Section 20(a) claims.  See, 

e.g., Carpenter, 594 F.2d at 394; In re Livent, Inc. Noteholders Sec. Litig., 151 F. 

Supp. 2d 371, 416-17 (S.D.N.Y. 2001).  This state-of-mind requirement is a 

sound proposition that this Court should adopt as the ruling law. 

2. A prima facie showing of culpable participation does not 
produce an illogical result rendering the good faith 
defense meaningless. 

  
Section 20(a) provides that a control person is liable “unless the 

controlling person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce 

                                       
2 See Note, The Burden of Control: Derivative Liability Under Section 20(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, 48 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1019, 1024 (1973) (discussing how narrow 
interpretations of Section 20(a) support practical implications in investor and business 
relationships); Letter from Franklin D. Roosevelt to Congress (Mar. 29, 1933) reprinted in 77 
CONG. REC. 937 (1933) (“The purpose of the [Exchange Act] I suggest is to protect the public 
with the least possible interference to honest business”); see also Laura Greco, The Buck Stops 
Where?: Defining Controlling Person Liability, 73 S. CAL. L. REV. 169, 177 (1999) (highlighting 
narrow interpretation avoids blanket liability for any misdeed of past or present employees). 
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the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.”  15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  

The Fourteenth Circuit relies on an out-of-circuit, non-binding district court 

case that finds the plain text of Section 20(a) places the burden on the 

defendant to establish good faith, not the plaintiff to allege the opposite in its 

pleadings.  (R. at 25) (citing In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 375 F. Supp. 2d 278, 308 

n.200 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (citation omitted)).  Specifically, the court in In re 

Parmalat found that the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit “essentially 

rendered the ‘culpable participation’ requirement meaningless” when 

discussing the burden shifting under the good faith clause of Section 20(a).  

375 F. Supp. 2d at 309.  This analysis, however, is misplaced because before 

reaching its Section 20(a) analysis, the Second Circuit had already held the 

defendant “knowingly . . . orchestrated every facet” of the primary violation.  

See First Jersey, 101 F.3d at 1472 (emphasis added).  More persuasively, the 

Second Circuit specifically used the words “prima facie” when establishing the 

culpable participation element of Section 20(a).  Id. at 1472-73; see Mishkin v. 

Ageloff, No. 97 Civ. 2690, 1998 WL 651065, at *24 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 1998) 

(Preska, J.) (holding First Jersey substantially changed Section 20(a) analysis 

because the court used “prima facie” to describe the appropriate test); see also 

In re Livent, 151 F. Supp. 2d at 415-16 (“Nothing precludes such a burden-

shifting scheme, and however unusual it may be to require the plaintiff to 

plead an element that, at trial, the defendant bears the burden to disprove, 

reading First Jersey this way reconciles the apparent inconsistency”). 
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Logically, it follows that this unequivocally places the initial burden on 

the plaintiff—like with pleading scienter for Section 10(b) claims—to make a 

showing of a defendant’s conscious misconduct or recklessness in the primary 

violation to survive a motion to dismiss.  As a result, Section 20(a) does not 

state that the burden of proof lies only with the defendant-control person, but 

rather provides the conditions for his liability that plaintiffs must allege in their 

complaint: (1) a primary violation, (2) control, and (3) culpable participation in 

inducing the primary violation. 

B. The strong-inference requirement of the PSLRA applies to Section 
20(a) culpable participant pleadings. 

 
Courts adopting the culpable participation element also agree that it 

requires “at a minimum . . . something more than negligence.”  Plumbers & 

Pipefitters Local Union No. 630 Pension-Annuity Tr. Fund v. Arbitron, Inc., 741 F. 

Supp. 2d 474, 491–92 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).  Under this view, the “culpable 

participation” element is similar to scienter, as it “seem[s] to imply a culpable 

state of mind.”  In re Stone & Webster, Inc., Sec. Litig., 414 F.3d 187, 196 n.6 

(1st Cir. 2005); Lapin v. Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 247 

(S.D.N.Y. 2006).  Congress enacted the PSLRA to restrict merit-less securities 

litigation cases by applying a higher pleading burden on plaintiffs.  The PSLRA 

requires a plaintiff “in any private action arising under this chapter in which 

the plaintiff may recover money damages only on proof that the defendant 

acted with a particular state of mind” to “state with particularity facts giving 

rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the required state of 

mind.”  15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(A).  Thus, the PSLRA “links its heightened 
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pleading standard” to any claim in which “a particular state of mind is an 

element of a plaintiff’s case, regardless of the stage at which that element must 

be proven.”  Mishkin, 1998 WL 651065, at *23. 

Furthermore, because plaintiffs bringing a Section 20(a) claim must 

plead culpable participation, or a defendant’s “state of mind,” the PSLRA 

requires the heightened pleading standards for a plaintiff’s complaint.  Id. at 

*24.  For example, in Lapin, the court held that, to withstand a motion to 

dismiss, a control person claim “must plead with particularity facts giving rise 

to a strong inference that the controlling person knew or should have known 

that the primary violator, over whom that person had control, was engaging in 

fraudulent conduct.”  506 F. Supp. 2d at 247 (citations omitted).  The court 

agreed with other Second Circuit precedent that culpable participation is a 

pleading requirement and “that it must be plead [sic] with the same 

particularity as scienter under [s]ection 10(b).”  Id. at 246.  The court further 

stressed that plaintiffs alleging Section 20(a) must plead particularized facts 

with enough specificity to raise a strong inference that the control person acted 

with a particular state of mind with respect to the primary violation.  Id. at 247.  

As a result, not only did Respondents fail to allege Wilson was a culpable 

participant, but there are also no particularized facts supporting that Wilson 

intentionally or recklessly aided in any fraudulent conduct.  Without sufficient 

facts indicating intent, conscious misbehavior, or recklessness, there is no 

evidence of “something more than negligence” on the part of Wilson to survive a 

motion to dismiss.  See Ernst & Ernst, 425 U.S. at 209 n.8. 
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CONCLUSION 
 

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Court 

to reverse the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

__________________/s/ 

Team P11 
Counsel of Record for Petitioners 
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APPENDIX 1 
 

 
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012): 

 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of means or 
instrumentality of 18 interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of 
any national securities exchange -- (b) To use or employ, in connection with the 
purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or 
any security not so registered . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 
may prescribe . . . 
 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2012): 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means 
or  instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of 
any national securities exchange, (c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of 
business which operates or would  operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, 
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 
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APPENDIX 2 
 

 
15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2012): 

 
Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable under any 
provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation thereunder shall also be 
liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled 
person to any person to whom such controlled person is liable, unless the 
controlling person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce 
the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.   
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APPENDIX 3 
 

Statement Chart 
 

# Alleged Statement  Alleged Statement Statement 
Type 

1 March 1, 2018 10-K “Our commitment to the environment is unwavering and 
constant.” Commitment 

2 March 1, 2018 10-K 

“There is no higher priority than ensuring that our drilling 
activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with 
protecting the environment and preventing or remediating any 
damage resulting from an environmental occurrence.” 

Commitment 

3 March 1, 2018 10-K 

“We continue to conduct frequent environmental practices 
reviews to assure our commitment to environmental best 
practices and devote our most talented personnel and a 
substantial budget to ensure protection of the environment.” 

Practices 

4 March 1, 2018 10-K 

“Our commitment to the environment is demonstrated through 
our investment in and adoption of the latest technology in 
order to minimize water or soil contamination. This 
commitment differentiates us from our competitors.” 

Practices 

5 March 1, 2018 10-K “Fracking involves no serious environmental issues not 
associated with conventional drilling.” Risk 

6 May 15, 2018 
Investor Conference 

“I think we have the tightest environmental practices in the 
West Texas oil patch.” Wilson 

7 May 15, 2018 
Investor Conference 

“Candidly, I honestly believe a major environmental event has 
about a zero percent chance of occurring on our property. We 
just pay too much attention for that to happen.” 

Wilson 

8 June 1, 2018 10-Q 
“Our operations could be subject to disruption by natural 
disasters beyond our control, including . . . severe storms, 
fires, earthquakes, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks.” 

Risk 
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APPENDIX 4 
 

 


